

DISASTER RISK IN A TIME OF ERODING HUMAN RIGHTS



How shrinking civic space and 'legal' injustice undermine inclusive DRR

Kevin Blanchard
July 2025



Email - contact@drrdynnamics.com

Website - www.drrdynamics.com

BlueSky - @drrdynamics.bsky.social

This briefing was written by **Kevin Blanchard**.

© 2025 DRR Dynamics

Suggested citation:

Blanchard, K. (2025) Intersectionality and Emerging Risks: Disaster risk in a time of eroding human rights - How shrinking civic space and 'legal' injustice undermine inclusive DRR. Accessed from https://www.drrdynamics.com/publications.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

01	Executive summary		
02	Structural drivers of risk & Introduction		
03	Human rights and DRR: The missing link in practice		
04	Shrinking civic space and its implications for DRR		
05	Legal injustice: Discriminatory laws as structural risk drivers		
07	Surveillance, digital control and securitised risk governance		
09	Systemic impacts of rights erosion on risk governance		
10	Policy and practice recommendations		
13	Conclusion		
14	Glossary of terms		

16 References

Executive summary

This report examines how the erosion of human rights is becoming a major driver of disaster risk. It argues that restrictions on rights, through shrinking civic space, discriminatory laws, or digital surveillance, weaken the systems designed to protect people before, during, and after crises. Rather than existing alongside disaster risk, the weakening of rights actively shapes who is exposed, who is protected, and who is left behind.

The analysis draws on global policy frameworks, legal and civic trends, and secondary literature. It highlights a growing recognition of rights-based approaches in disaster risk reduction (DRR), but also shows that these commitments are rarely embedded in operational tools, funding models, or programme delivery. In many countries, civic restrictions are making it harder for communities (especially those already at risk) to organise, contribute to preparedness planning, or access emergency support. Discriminatory laws and legal invisibility further marginalise specific groups, limiting access to services and creating barriers to recovery. The increasing use of digital surveillance and automated decision-making adds new risks, particularly where these technologies lack transparency, accountability, or safeguards against bias.

The report takes an intersectional approach, showing that the erosion of rights does not affect all people equally. Legal status, ethnicity, gender identity, and other factors interact to shape exposure, exclusion, and access to protection.

The report concludes with practical steps that governments, UN agencies, donors, civil society, and researchers can take to protect and restore the enabling conditions for inclusive DRR. These include reviewing discriminatory laws, protecting civic freedoms, addressing digital harms, and treating civil society as a key actor in risk governance.

Inclusive DRR cannot be achieved without the protection of human rights. This report outlines where those protections are weakening and what can be done to reverse that trend.

Structural drivers of risk and their impact on inclusive DRR

The three main sections that follow explore how rights erosion is unfolding across civic, legal, and digital domains. These areas are rarely examined together within DRR research or practice, and are often overlooked entirely. Yet they influence core aspects of risk governance, including who is recognised, who can participate, and who receives protection. The table below sets out these domains and outlines how they may contribute to exclusion within DRR systems.

Domain of rights exclusion	What it involves	Impact on DRR
Civic space	Restrictions on protest, civil society activity, freedom of voice	Reduced participation, weaker accountability, lower public trust
Legal systems	Discriminatory laws, criminalisation of identity, legal invisibility	Exclusion from services, fear of seeking help, limited legal recourse
Digital technologies	Surveillance, data misuse, lack of oversight in automated systems	Privacy risks, biased or incomplete decision-making

Introduction

This report focuses on the erosion of human rights as a structural risk that directly undermines disaster protection and recovery. It argues that civic restrictions, legal discrimination, and digital surveillance are not separate from DRR, they shape how risk is governed, who is included in planning, and who receives support when disaster strikes.

While international frameworks increasingly refer to rights-based approaches, there remains a wide gap between these commitments and their application in practice [2]. The Sendai Framework, the Paris Agreement, and the Sustainable Development Goals all contain language on inclusion, but these references often remain vague and are rarely supported by enforceable rights mechanisms [2,3]. Rights are treated as guiding principles rather than structural foundations for risk reduction [3].

With the midterm review of the Sendai Framework complete, new attention on the Early Warnings for All initiative, and initial discussions beginning around what will follow in 2030, this is a critical moment to examine how rights are treated in DRR. Governments, civil society organisations, and UN actors have called for stronger integration of rights into disaster policy, yet the underlying causes of exclusion remain poorly addressed.

Inclusive DRR depends on structural conditions that allow people to be heard, recognised, and protected. When these conditions are missing, efforts to reduce disaster risk become narrower, less trusted, and less effective. The following chapters examine how this erosion is taking place, and what can be done to respond.

Human rights and DRR: The missing link in practice

Despite repeated calls for rights-based approaches in DRR, the role of human rights remains inconsistently addressed in both global policy and practice [2,3]. International frameworks such as the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction, the Paris Agreement, and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) include references to rights and inclusion, but these references are often broad and aspirational [3]. The Sendai Framework, for example, affirms the importance of inclusivity and the engagement of all stakeholders, yet it does not explicitly ground these principles in international human rights law [6,7]. The Paris Agreement makes a brief reference to rights in its preamble but lacks binding obligations in this regard [8]. The SDGs go further in some respects, with Goal 16 focusing on peace, justice, and strong institutions, but the direct connections between human rights and risk reduction are rarely made clear [9,10].

Academic research and practitioner literature have consistently underscored the need to anchor DRR efforts in a clear rights-based framework [6,7]. This includes recognition of people's right to safety, participation, information, and non-discrimination in disaster contexts [7]. Civil society organisations and legal advocates have argued that without such grounding, efforts to reduce risk will continue to leave the most marginalised behind [11]. There is growing consensus that effective risk reduction must include not only technical preparedness and infrastructure investment but also the protection of rights that enable people to access those systems and to challenge their exclusion when it occurs [12].

However, in practice, this 'rights' framing remains weak. Operational guidance documents produced by implementing agencies often prioritise technical solutions or capacity-building activities without examining the underlying rights

environment that shapes who benefits [12]. Similarly, many donor frameworks treat rights as secondary considerations, or address them through stand-alone safeguards rather than integrating them into the core of project design and delivery [6,12]. This has implications not only for inclusion but also for accountability and long-term sustainability.

The absence of strong, enforceable rights commitments within the operational landscape of DRR means that marginalisation often persists unchecked and unchallenged. In many cases, those most exposed to disaster risks lack legal recognition, access to information, or the freedom to organise and participate in decision-making processes [7,11]. As a result, the protective systems that DRR efforts rely on are often inaccessible to the very groups they aim to support [7].

Understanding how human rights are weakened in practice means looking closely at the systems and environments that shape risk. Civic space, legal protections, and digital governance each influence whether people can participate safely, access support, or challenge exclusion. The erosion of rights in these areas is not always visible, but it has far-reaching effects on who is protected and who is not.

Shrinking civic space and its Implications for DRR

The ability of individuals and communities to engage freely in civic life is a key enabler of inclusive DRR [13]. Civic space allows people to organise, express their concerns, challenge decisions, and participate in shaping the systems that affect them [13]. However, over the past decade, this space has narrowed significantly in many countries. Reports from CIVICUS, UN Special Rapporteurs, and other monitoring bodies have documented widespread restrictions on civil society organisations (CSOs), the curtailment of public protest, the criminalisation of dissent, and increasing controls on the funding and activities of non-governmental actors [14,15,16].

This contraction is not limited to any one region. It has been observed in both high-income and lower-income countries, in democracies and authoritarian settings alike [14]. Often justified under the banner of national security, public order, or counter-terrorism, these restrictions tend to have disproportionate impacts on groups already facing exclusion [14,16]. Indigenous organisations, women's groups, LGBTQIA+ networks, disability rights coalitions, and refugee-led initiatives are among those most affected [14]. The result is a fragmented civic landscape in which many at-risk communities have fewer opportunities to influence the policies and decisions that directly shape their vulnerability to disasters.

In the context of DRR, this shrinkage has concrete and far-reaching implications

[17,18]. Where civil society is constrained, local risk knowledge is less likely to be recognised or acted upon [18]. Communities may be excluded from early warning systems, preparedness planning, or recovery programmes because the mechanisms for their participation no longer exist or have been weakened [18]. When grassroots groups cannot safely operate or access funding, the range of voices involved in DRR policy and practice narrows [17]. This undermines the very principle of inclusive risk governance promoted in global frameworks.

Case study evidence highlights the consequences. In post-cyclone Mozambique, for instance, restrictions on press freedom and civil society mobilisation limited public scrutiny of recovery efforts, reducing transparency and trust [18,19]. In parts of South Asia, local organisations responding to monsoon flooding reported increased difficulty obtaining permits and approvals for relief distribution, particularly when serving marginalised groups [20,21]. In Latin America, Indigenous communities have documented how environmental defenders working to prevent deforestation and mitigate climate-linked hazards face increasing threats and intimidation, disrupting locally led risk management strategies [22]. In parts of the United States, advocacy organisations supporting migrant farmworkers during wildfire seasons have reported increased surveillance and reduced access to funding, hindering outreach efforts and limiting the inclusion of undocumented workers in disaster preparedness plans [23].

The relationship between civic space and DRR is often overlooked in programme design and risk assessments. Yet the ability to speak, organise, and act collectively is fundamental to identifying risks, holding authorities to account, and designing responses that reflect diverse needs and experiences [13]. Where civic space closes, these functions are compromised.

Understanding this dynamic is essential for strengthening the enabling environment for DRR. A functioning and protected civic sphere is not a luxury or an add-on [13,18]. It is an essential part of building just, inclusive, and effective approaches to reducing disaster risk.

Legal injustice: Discriminatory laws as structural risk drivers

Legal systems play a significant role in shaping who is protected before, during, and after disasters [7,11]. While often considered outside the scope of traditional DRR policy, national laws can directly influence the conditions that place people at risk. When these laws discriminate against specific populations or restrict access to basic services, they act as structural drivers of vulnerability [24].

Across many contexts, laws continue to criminalise certain identities, behaviours, or family structures [7]. These include laws that target same-sex relationships, gender expression, migration status, and informal settlements [25]. Across a wide range of contexts, legal systems continue to embed exclusion into the everyday lives of marginalised groups [11,25]. Laws that criminalise consensual same-sex relationships remain in place in over 60 countries, reinforcing stigma and deterring individuals from seeking assistance in crisis settings [26]. In many regions, stateless people and undocumented migrants face legal barriers to accessing essential services such as healthcare, shelter, and education, leaving them particularly vulnerable during disasters [27]. Similarly, punitive approaches to informal housing make it harder for people living in unregistered settlements or slums to access recovery aid or be included in relocation or planning processes [28]. These legal restrictions do not only reflect broader social discrimination; they also shape who is recognised, protected, and supported when disaster strikes.

While often passed under the justification of public morality, order, or national security, the practical effect of these laws is to exclude individuals and groups from systems designed to keep people safe [29].

Legal frameworks that discriminate in this way do not simply create isolated cases of injustice, they establish patterns of exclusion that carry over into emergency response and recovery [30]. For example, during disasters, marginalised groups may avoid seeking help from authorities for fear of arrest, deportation, or exposure [7,31,32]. Healthcare workers or shelter providers may be legally prohibited from offering services to certain populations [31]. In contexts where identity documents are a legal requirement for accessing aid, stateless persons, refugees, or trans people with mismatched documents may be left unserved [27]. Even where laws are not strictly enforced, their presence often creates a chilling effect, discouraging participation and increasing mistrust in public institutions.

These dynamics are not theoretical. Legal advocacy organisations and human rights monitoring bodies have documented numerous examples where discriminatory laws have undermined equitable disaster response [33].

These laws are often embedded within broader legal and policy systems that already overlook or undervalue the needs of certain populations [33]. Disaster laws may lack explicit non-discrimination clauses or may defer entirely to existing national legal frameworks, many of which are not rights-based [11,33]. As a result, DRR practitioners may find themselves operating in legal environments that actively undermine inclusion, even where international guidance calls for the opposite [7,11].

Addressing this challenge requires more than simply acknowledging the problem. It involves recognising that the law itself is a source of risk for many people [7].

Legal reform is not always within the remit of DRR actors, but awareness of legal barriers can shape programme design, advocacy strategies, and partnerships. Collaboration with legal aid providers, human rights institutions, and civil society networks is one way to bridge this gap. Donors and international agencies also have a role to play in promoting legal frameworks that protect rights rather than restrict them.

In short, laws that criminalise or exclude do not disappear during crises. They follow people into disaster settings and shape who is seen, who is served, and who is left behind. Without examining the legal environment, efforts to build inclusive DRR will remain incomplete.

Surveillance, digital control and securitised risk governance

Digital tools are now part of most DRR systems [34]. These include data collection, identity checks, location tracking, and artificial intelligence (AI) and while these systems can improve how decisions are made, they also carry risks [34]. In particular, surveillance and digital control may reduce trust, discourage participation, and place already marginalised groups at greater risk [35]. While these systems offer potential benefits for early warning, needs assessments, and crisis communication, they also introduce new risks. In particular, the use of surveillance and digital control in the name of safety or efficiency can undermine trust, limit participation, and place already marginalised groups at greater risk [35].

Reports by organisations such as Privacy International [36], and the UN Special Rapporteur on the right to privacy [37] have documented the expansion of surveillance practices in humanitarian and disaster settings. These include the widespread use of biometric registration, location tracking of displaced populations, drone surveillance of high-risk areas, and partnerships with private companies to analyse social media or mobile data 35,36,37]. These systems are often introduced without adequate consultation, oversight, or meaningful consent.

While often presented as neutral tools for improving coordination or targeting aid, surveillance measures frequently reflect existing power imbalances [34]. Groups with irregular legal status, such as refugees, migrants, or people without formal documentation, may be especially vulnerable and in some cases, data collected for humanitarian purposes has been shared with security agencies or immigration enforcement, leading to fear and disengagement from life-saving services [34]. In others, affected communities have reported that surveillance technologies were used to monitor behaviour, restrict movement, or suppress protest following disasters [34].

For marginalised groups, the implications go beyond privacy concerns. Surveillance can reduce trust in public authorities, particularly in contexts where policing or border control is already experienced as hostile [7,11,34]. It can also disrupt the ability of communities to organise, advocate, or communicate safely during crises with some regions, digital surveillance being used to monitor activists or community leaders involved in disaster response and environmental protection, creating additional barriers to civic engagement in risk governance [38].

AI-powered systems bring further complexity [34]. Predictive analytics and algorithmic tools are increasingly used in disaster preparedness and response planning, including for resource allocation and vulnerability mapping [34]. However, without clear safeguards, these systems risk embedding existing biases. If training data reflects structural inequalities or excludes certain populations, the outputs may reinforce those exclusions. For example, if informal settlements or unregistered populations are not visible in official datasets, AI systems may deprioritise them in risk assessments or recovery planning [34].

Concerns about these technologies are not limited to hypotheticals. Research has shown that automated systems used in social protection and crisis assistance programmes have sometimes led to wrongful exclusions, delays, or privacy violations [39]. For LGBTQIA+ individuals, ethnic minorities, or those without state-recognised identities, being misclassified or overlooked by automated processes is not uncommon [34]. These harms are compounded when there is limited recourse or when affected individuals are unaware that such systems are even being used.

The challenge is not the use of digital tools in itself, but the way in which they are governed. DRR actors are often placed in difficult positions, balancing a need for information with limited capacity to ensure ethical data practices [40,41]. Yet failure to consider the rights implications of digital systems can erode the very goals of inclusive and people-centred risk reduction and the tools intended to improve access and efficiency can easily end up reinforcing surveillance, exclusion, and control [41].

Digital surveillance and control, especially when embedded in securitised approaches to risk, can harden the boundaries of inclusion and exclusion [34,40,41]. As disaster risks grow more complex and technology plays an increasing role in response, protecting digital rights becomes inseparable from the broader project of equitable risk governance [41]. Without these protections, technological solutions risk becoming another layer of structural risk.

Systemic impacts of rights erosion on risk governance

When rights are weakened in legal, civic, and digital systems, the foundations of disaster risk governance are affected. Exclusion becomes more likely, and participation, trust, and protection are all reduced [11]. When people are denied the freedom to organise, the legal recognition to access services, or the privacy to engage safely with institutions, their ability to participate in risk governance is undermined [17]. These restrictions are not simply barriers to engagement. They are active forces that shape who is visible in DRR systems, who receives support, and who remains excluded [17].

Shrinking civic space creates clear patterns of exclusion and limits the ability of communities and civil society organisations to raise concerns, share local knowledge, or contribute to decision-making [17]. Discriminatory laws block access to basic services and legitimise the exclusion of certain groups during crisis response. Surveillance and data systems, if unregulated, create environments of mistrust and insecurity that deter people from engaging with the institutions that are meant to support them [39]. These forces are mutually reinforcing. Together, they contribute to a risk governance landscape in which inclusion becomes conditional, selective, or absent altogether.

In this context, participation is often the first casualty. Inclusive DRR frameworks stress the importance of involving all stakeholders, especially those most at risk. But where public assembly is restricted, or where registration processes filter out people without legal status or formal identification, participation is constrained in practice [42]. A rights-based approach requires more than just open invitations to consultative meetings, it requires structural conditions that allow people to speak freely, access information, and challenge decisions without fear of harm [41].

The effects on protection are equally significant. Humanitarian and disaster response systems rely on assumptions about who can safely access support. For individuals living under discriminatory laws, this assumption often does not hold. Trans people, sex workers, migrants without papers, or others criminalised by law may avoid shelters, clinics, or registration sites for fear of exposure or punishment [43]. As a result, their needs go unmet, and their risks increase. These are not isolated gaps in service delivery, they are predictable outcomes of exclusionary legal and social frameworks [43].

An intersectional lens is essential in understanding these dynamics. Exclusion is rarely experienced along a single axis with a person's ability to engage with DRR systems shaped by the interaction of multiple factors, including legal status,

ethnicity, gender identity, age, disability, and language [43]. For example, a stateless woman with a disability may face overlapping legal, social, and physical barriers to participation in preparedness planning. A young queer refugee may be visible to surveillance systems but invisible to service providers. These intersections shape not only vulnerability, but also the degree to which people are able to access protection and shape the policies that affect their lives.

The literature confirms these patterns. Studies have shown that DRR initiatives which fail to account for intersecting identities often reinforce the very inequalities they seek to address [44]. Programmes that treat communities as homogenous units risk privileging dominant groups while leaving others behind and conversely, inclusive efforts grounded in rights and responsive to intersectionality tend to have higher uptake, better outcomes, and stronger community support [44].

The consequences of human rights erosion are not limited to individual harm, they distort the foundation upon which inclusive DRR must be built.

Policy and practice recommendations

The erosion of human rights poses a significant challenge to inclusive and effective DRR. As the previous chapters have shown, rights-based approaches are often undermined by shrinking civic space, discriminatory legal frameworks, and unregulated digital systems. Yet these challenges are not inevitable. They reflect choices made in policy and practice, and they can be addressed through deliberate and sustained action.

It is also important to recognise, that implementing rights-based DRR is not straightforward. Many governments, institutions, and civil society actors operate in environments where homophobia, transphobia, racism, and the suppression of freedom of speech are embedded in law or public discourse. In some contexts, the separation between the executive, judiciary, and security sectors is blurred, limiting accountability and the protection of dissent [45]. Financial constraints, donor conditionalities, and political instability may further restrict the space for inclusive practice. These realities shape what is possible and often carry risks for those pushing for change. Progress may therefore be uneven and context-specific, requiring long-term commitment and careful navigation.

The recommendations that follow are offered with these complexities in mind. They are aimed at strengthening the enabling environment for inclusive and rights-based DRR. They are grouped according to key actor groups and draw on existing evaluations, secondary research, and civil society input.

For governments:

Governments have the central responsibility for ensuring that DRR systems protect all people equally. Achieving this is complex, particularly in environments where resources are limited, civil liberties are under pressure, or public discourse is hostile to certain groups. Nonetheless, governments can take meaningful steps within their national contexts to reduce exclusion and strengthen rights protections:

- Review laws and policies that discriminate on the basis of identity, migration status, residence, or access to public services, and consider reforms that reduce exclusion in disaster settings.
- Ensure that disaster legislation, preparedness plans, and recovery frameworks include clear non-discrimination and participation clauses, supported by systems of accountability.
- Safeguard civic space by protecting the rights to freedom of expression, peaceful assembly, and association, even during periods of crisis or emergency.
- Make public communication, early warning systems, and relief services accessible, inclusive, and trusted by groups who may face discrimination, surveillance, or past exclusion.
- Strengthen grievance and oversight mechanisms, such as ombuds offices or independent commissions, to monitor exclusion in disaster response and promote corrective action.

For UN agencies:

UN bodies are influential in setting global standards and supporting policy implementation at national and regional levels. Operating in politically sensitive environments, they often walk a careful line, but there are still ways to reinforce rights-based approaches to DRR:

- Integrate clear rights language and human rights commitments into DRR guidance, tools, and frameworks, building on existing UN standards and obligations.
- Strengthen collaboration across DRR, humanitarian, development, and human rights units, so that rights are not treated as peripheral to risk governance.
- Where possible, support governments in reviewing legislation and policies for inclusion and rights compatibility, especially where civic engagement is restricted or heavily regulated.
- Offer technical assistance on incorporating intersectionality and nondiscrimination into risk analysis, planning, and monitoring, while being mindful of data protection and informed consent.

For donors:

Donors operate within their own political constraints and risk appetites, but they remain well placed to shape the terms of engagement in DRR funding. To support inclusive approaches in practice, they can:

- Make respect for human rights a visible and measurable requirement across DRR funding portfolios, not only in social or development programming.
- Provide sustained, flexible funding to organisations and networks that work on rights-based DRR, especially those led by communities who are often marginalised.
- Fund legal empowerment, civic education, and digital rights work as part of risk reduction and preparedness strategies, not only during humanitarian response.
- Prioritise DRR proposals that include mechanisms for participation, independent feedback, and monitoring by affected populations, and provide funding to implement these mechanisms meaningfully.

For civil society:

Civil society actors often operate in politically restricted or underfunded environments. Despite this, many continue to lead efforts to defend rights and ensure that DRR reaches those who are too often excluded. To sustain and deepen this work:

- Strengthen alliances and coalitions that elevate the voices and expertise of women, LGBTQIA+ people, disabled people, youth, migrants, and others disproportionately affected by disaster risk.
- Document and share evidence of exclusion and community-led responses, using this to influence policy and hold institutions to account where possible.
- Invest in data security, digital literacy, and responsible data practices, particularly in contexts where surveillance is a known risk.
- Use advocacy, litigation, or other appropriate strategies to resist laws and policies that restrict civic space or block participation in emergency and recovery efforts.

For academic and research institutions:

Academic institutions have relative autonomy and can influence both policy and practice through research, teaching, and convening. To better support inclusive and rights-based DRR:

- Prioritise research that explores how rights, governance, and inequality intersect with disaster risk, with attention to structural and systemic factors.
- Engage with affected communities using participatory methods that recognise local knowledge and lived experience as central to risk understanding.
- Analyse the effects of legal, civic, and digital systems on exclusion in DRR, and share findings in formats that are accessible to practitioners and decision makers.
- Integrate rights-based and intersectional approaches into DRR education and professional development, ensuring future practitioners are equipped to recognise and address exclusion.

Taken together, these actions can help shift DRR from a technical response to a more inclusive, accountable, and rights-affirming approach, one that better reflects the realities faced by those most at risk.

Conclusion

Disaster risk reduction cannot succeed if it is disconnected from the protection of human rights. The systems designed to reduce harm before, during, and after crises rely on trust, access, and fairness. Where rights are weakened, those foundations begin to crack. The result is risk reduction that fails to reach those who need it most and recovery efforts that reinforce, rather than reduce, inequality.

This report has shown how structural issues, including the shrinking of civic space, the persistence of discriminatory laws, and the expansion of unregulated surveillance, undermine inclusive DRR. These are not side issues or background conditions. They are central to how risk is created, distributed, and addressed. When people are unable to speak freely, move safely, or access services without fear, they are more likely to be exposed to hazards and less likely to recover from them.

Hazards alone do not determine who suffers most. It is the systems in place, and the choices made within them, that shape outcomes. A focus on infrastructure, forecasts, and funding models is not enough. DRR must also pay attention to whose voices are included, whose lives are protected, and whose rights are upheld in the process.

This is not a call for perfection, nor a one-size-fits-all approach. It is a call for deliberate choices. Risk reduction policies and programmes must be designed with rights in mind from the start, not added later as an afterthought. Governments, donors, UN agencies, civil society, and researchers each have a role to play in creating an environment where inclusive DRR is possible and sustainable.

This is not a call for perfection or for a single model that works everywhere. It is a call for more deliberate choices. Rights must be considered from the beginning, not added later as safeguards once systems are already established. Every actor involved in disaster risk reduction, including governments, donors, UN agencies, civil society organisations and researchers, has a role to play in creating environments where inclusion is both possible and lasting.

Glossary of terms

Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR)

The process of identifying, assessing, and reducing the risks of disasters through policies, strategies, and practices that aim to minimise harm to people, property, and the environment.

Inclusive DRR

An approach to disaster risk reduction that ensures the meaningful participation and protection of all groups. This includes those who are marginalised or at heightened risk, such as migrants, disabled people, LGBTQIA+ communities, or stateless individuals.

Rights-based approach

A way of designing policies and programmes that puts the protection of human rights at the centre. In DRR, this involves ensuring safety, access to information, participation in decision-making, and protection from discrimination.

Intersectionality

The idea that different forms of discrimination can combine and overlap. These may be based on gender, race, legal status, disability, sexuality, or other factors. Intersectionality helps explain how exclusion is experienced differently by different people and why some are more likely to be left out of disaster planning and response.

Structural risk

Risks that are created by systems such as laws, institutions, or social structures, rather than by hazards themselves. For example, a person denied access to a shelter because of their legal status faces a structural risk.

Civic space

The environment that allows people and organisations to take part freely in public life. This includes speaking out, organising, protesting, receiving funding, and participating in decisions that affect them, without fear of punishment.

Shrinking civic space

The increasing restriction of freedoms such as speech, assembly, and civil society activity. In DRR, this makes it harder for communities to organise, share knowledge, challenge poor decisions, or influence how risk is governed.

Legal discrimination

Laws or policies that unfairly target or exclude people based on who they are or how they live. This may include criminalising same-sex relationships, informal housing, or lack of identity documents. These laws create barriers to safety and support.

Legal invisibility

A situation in which people are not recognised by the state in legal terms. This includes stateless individuals, undocumented migrants, or people with identities that do not match their documents. Legal invisibility often prevents access to services, protection, or aid.

Surveillance

The collection or monitoring of people's personal information. This is often done using digital tools such as biometric databases, mobile location tracking, drones, or social media analysis. In disaster settings, surveillance can create fear, reduce trust, and make people avoid seeking help.

Digital control

The use of digital technologies to manage, restrict, or shape people's behaviour during crises. This may include data sharing with police or immigration agencies, the use of algorithms to make decisions, or systems that monitor people's actions or communications.

Automated systems / AI in DRR

Technology-based tools such as artificial intelligence or predictive models that are used to plan for or respond to disasters. These tools can help with early warning or targeting resources, but they may also exclude or misidentify people if they rely on biased or incomplete data.

Digital divide

The gap between those who have access to digital tools and services and those who do not. This divide affects who can receive alerts, register for aid, or be seen in official systems used for disaster response.

Rights erosion

The steady decline or removal of civil, political, or social rights. This can happen through changes to laws, increased surveillance, restrictions on protest or speech, or by limiting access to legal support.

Securitised risk governance

A style of disaster management that focuses on control and security, often at the cost of inclusion and participation. This approach can reduce civic freedoms and increase the risks faced by already-marginalised groups.

Non-discrimination clause

A part of a law or policy that states people must not be excluded or treated unfairly based on who they are. In DRR, such clauses help ensure equal access to emergency services, shelter, information, and recovery support.

References

- 1 Broberg, M. and Sano, H.O., 2018. Strengths and weaknesses in a human rights-based approach to international development-an analysis of a rights-based approach to development assistance based on practical experiences. The International Journal of Human Rights, 22(5), pp.664-680.
- 2 De Man, A., 2018. Critiques of the human rights framework as the foundation of a human rights-based approach to development.
- 3 Da Costa, K. and Pospieszna, P., 2015. The relationship between human rights and disaster risk reduction revisited: Bringing the legal perspective into the discussion. Journal of International Humanitarian Legal Studies, 6(1), pp.64-86.
- 4 Wisner, B., 2020. Five years beyond Sendai—can we get beyond frameworks?. International Journal of Disaster Risk Science, 11(2), pp.239-249.
- 5 Mayer, B., 2021. Climate change mitigation as an obligation under human rights treaties?. American Journal of International Law, 115(3), pp.409-451.
- 6 Kimber, L.R. and Steele, J.F., 2021. Feminist advocacy on international agreements for disaster risk reduction: From Yokohama to Sendai. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 64, p.102457.
- 7 Seglah, H.A. and Blanchard, K., 2024. Sexual and Gender Minorities and the Right to Non-discrimination: a Shortfall of Disaster Risk Reduction?. Yearbook of International Disaster Law Online, 5(1), pp.133-162.
- 8 Etinski, R., 2016. Paris climate agreement and human rights. Noua Revistă de Drepturile Omului, 12(1), pp.3-12.
- 9 Winkler, I.T. and Williams, C., 2017. The Sustainable Development Goals and human rights: a critical early review. The international journal of human rights, 21(8), pp.1023-1028.
- 10 MacNaughton, G., 2018. Vertical inequalities: are the SDGs and human rights up to the challenges?. In The Sustainable Development Goals and Human Rights (pp. 28-50). Routledge.
- 11 Samuel, K.L., Aronsson-Storrier, M. and Bookmiller, K.N. eds., 2019. The Cambridge handbook of disaster risk reduction and international law. Cambridge University Press.
- 12 Nordling, L., 2020. Double Trouble: An analysis of the UNDRR's inclusion of vulnerable groups in dual crises following natural hazards and COVID-19.
- 13 Sagala, S., Azhari, D., Nailah, N., Vicri, R.N., Paramitasari, D., Herdiansyah, A.R. and Patricia, C., 2024. Transformative Participation in Inclusive Disaster Risk Reduction. In Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Natural Hazard Science.
- 14 CIVICUS, 2025. State of Civil Society Report 2025. [online] CIVICUS. Available at: https://publications.civicus.org/publications/2025-state-of-civil-society-report/ [Accessed 01 Jul. 2025].

- 15 Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), n.d. Special Rapporteur on the rights to freedom of peaceful assembly and of association. [online] Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/special-procedures/sr-freedom-of-assembly-and-association [Accessed 01 Jul. 2025].
- 16 Restless Development, n.d. State of Youth Civil Society Report. [online] Available at: https://restlessdevelopment.org/state-of-youth-civil-society-report/ [Accessed 01 Jul. 2025].
- 17 Hossain, N., Khurana, N., Mohmand, S., Nazneen, S., Oosterom, M., Roberts, T., Santos, R., Shankland, A. and Schröder, P., 2018. What does closing civic space mean for development? A literature review and proposed conceptual framework. The Institute of Development Studies and Partner Organisations.
- 18 McGee, R., 2023. The governance shock doctrine: Civic space in the pandemic. Development Policy Review, 41, p.e12678.
- 19 Pereira, C. and Forquilha, S., 2021. Navigating civic space in a time of COVID-19: Mozambique country report. Institute for Social and Economic Studies: Maputo, Mozambique.
- 20 Dave, R.K., 2018. Disaster management in India: Challenges and strategies. Prowess Publishing.
- 21 Mohmand, S.K., 2019. The implications of closing civic space for sustainable development in Pakistan. The Institute of Development Studies and Partner Organisations.
- 22 Ubillús, A.V. and Van Ongevalle, J., 2024. Civic Space and the Leaving No One Behind Principle.
- 23 Jayakody, C., Amaratunga, D. and Haigh, R., 2016, September. Planning and designing public open spaces as a strategy for disaster resilient cities: A review of literature. In 9th Faculty of Architecture and Research International Research Conference: Building the Future-Resilient Environments (pp. 156-168). Faculty of Architecture: University of Moratuwa.
- 24 Behnassi, M., Gupta, H., Ramachandran, N., Winniefridah, M., Ramachandran, G., Lakeman, S. and Ashfaq, M., 2021. Effectiveness of Disaster Risk Governance and Resilience Building: Linkages, Knowledge, Inclusiveness, and Regulation. In Social-Ecological Systems (SES) From Risks and Insecurity to Viability and Resilience (pp. 1-37). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- 25 Da Costa, K. and Pospieszna, P., 2016. 10 Can laws and policies foster disaster risk reduction?. Planning for Community-based Disaster Resilience Worldwide: Learning from Case Studies in Six Continents, p.171.
- 26 Human Rights Watch, 2025. Maps of anti-LGBT laws country by country. [online] Human Rights Watch. Available at: https://features.hrw.org/features/features/lgbt laws/ [Accessed 03 Jul. 2025].
- 27 Dadson, Y.A., Bennett-Gayle, D.M., Ramenzoni, V. and Gilmore, E.A., 2025. Experiences of immigrants during disasters in the US: a systematic literature review. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 27(1), pp.134-148.
- 28 Malik, S., Roosli, R. and Tariq, F., 2020. Investigation of informal housing challenges and issues: experiences from slum and squatter of Lahore. Journal of Housing and the Built Environment, 35(1), pp.143-170.

- 29 McDougal, M.S., Lasswell, H.D. and Chen, L.C., 2018. Human rights and world public order: the basic policies of an international law of human dignity. Oxford University Press.
- 30 Joseph, J., Irshad, S.M. and Alex, A.M., 2021. Disaster recovery and structural inequalities: A case study of community assertion for justice. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 66, p.102555.
- 31 Blanchard, K., 2023. Gender and sexual minorities: Health considerations in times of disaster [online]. Available at: https://www.drrdynamics.com/publications [Accessed 03 Jul. 2025].
- 32 Seglah, H.A. and Blanchard, K., 2021. LGBTQIA+ People and Disasters [online]. Available at: https://bit.ly/DRR_LGBT_Rept [Accessed 03 Jul. 2025].
- 33 Cubie, D. and Hesselman, M., 2015. Accountability for the human rights implications of natural disasters: a proposal for systemic international oversight. Netherlands Quarterly of Human Rights, 33(1), pp.9-41.
- 34 Blanchard, K., 2023. Artificial intelligence, disasters and marginalised groups [online]. Available at: https://www.drrdynamics.com/publications [Accessed 03 Jul. 2025].
- 35 Qalandar, S., Grinko, M., Randall, D. and Wulf, V., 2025, August. Forced Trust and Digital Control in a Global Health Crisis: The Case of a Marginalized Community in Iran's Kermanshah Province. In Proceedings of the sixth decennial Aarhus conference: Computing X Crisis (pp. 71-95).
- 36 Privacy International, 2018. Digital stop and search report [pdf]. Available at: https://privacyinternational.org/sites/default/files/2018-03/Digital%20Stop%20and%20Search%20Report.pdf [Accessed 03 Jul. 2025].
- 37 European Parliament, 2021. Study on fundamental rights implications of research, innovation and new technologies in the area of climate change and disaster risk management [pdf]. Available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2021/653636/EXPO_ STU(2021)653636_EN.pdf [Accessed 03 Jul. 2025].
- 38 Ludwig, T., Reuter, C., Siebigteroth, T. and Pipek, V., 2015, April. CrowdMonitor: Mobile crowd sensing for assessing physical and digital activities of citizens during emergencies. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (pp. 4083-4092).
- 39 Valentine, S., 2019. Impoverished algorithms: Misguided governments, flawed technologies, and social control. Fordham Urb. LJ, 46, p.364.
- 40 Gevaert, C.M., Carman, M., Rosman, B., Georgiadou, Y. and Soden, R., 2021. Fairness and accountability of AI in disaster risk management: Opportunities and challenges. Patterns, 2(11).
- 41 Scolobig, A., Prior, T., Schröter, D., Jörin, J. and Patt, A., 2015. Towards people-centred approaches for effective disaster risk management: Balancing rhetoric with reality. International journal of disaster risk reduction, 12, pp.202-212.
- 42 Bennett, D., 2020. Five years later: Assessing the implementation of the four priorities of the Sendai framework for inclusion of people with disabilities. International Journal of Disaster Risk Science, 11(2), pp.155-166.

- 43 Seglah, H.A. and Blanchard, K., 2022. Invisible Again: Hyper-marginalised Groups and Disaster Data [online]. Available at: https://www.drrdynamics.com/publications [Accessed 03 Jul. 2025].
- 44 Blanchard, K., 2024. Intersectionality, marginalised groups & disasters: Culture & identity in disaster preparedness & response [online]. Available at: https://www.drrdynamics.com/publications [Accessed 04 Jul. 2025].
- 45 Blanchard, K., 2025. Populism, post-truth politics and disaster risk: Challenges for governance and marginalised communities [online]. Available at: https://www.drrdynamics.com/publications [Accessed 04 Jul. 2025].

DRRDYNAMICS

SUPPORTING INCLUSIVE DISASTER RISK REDUCTION

www.drrdynamics.com July 2025